Baten et al v. McMaster et al Doc. 1

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF SOUTH CAROLINA
CHARLESTON DIVISION

EUGENE BATEN; CHESTER WILLIS;
CHARLETTE PLUMMER-WOOLEY;

BAKARI SELLERS, CORY C. ALPERT;
and BENJAMIN HORNE,

Plaintiffs,

V. Case No. 2:18-cv-00510-PMD

HENRY MCMASTER, inhis official
capacity as Governor of the State of South
Carolina; MARK HAMMOND, in his official
capacity as Secretary of State of the State pf
South Carolina; the SOUTH CAROLINA
ELECTION COMMISSION; BILLY WAY
Jr., in his official capacity as a Chair of the
Election Commission; MARK BENSON, in
his official capacity as a Commission
Member of the Election Commission;
MARILYN BOWER, in her official capacity
as a Commission Member of the Election
Commission; E. ALLEN DAWSON, in his
official capacity as a Commission Member pf
the Election Commission; NICOLE SPAIN
WHITE, in her official capacity as a
Commission Member of the Election
Commission,

Defendants.

COMPLAINT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF

Dockets.Justia.com


https://dockets.justia.com/docket/south-carolina/scdce/2:2018cv00510/241462/
https://docs.justia.com/cases/federal/district-courts/south-carolina/scdce/2:2018cv00510/241462/1/
https://dockets.justia.com/

NATURE OF THE ACTION

1. The predominant method in America fmunting votes in presidential elections
violates the United States Constitution; it also distorts presidential campaigns, facilitates targeted
outside interference in our elections, discriminates against racial and other minority voters, and
ensures that a substantial number of citizen voters are disenfranchised when their votes are tallied
in early November, only to be discarded when it really counts in mid-December.

2. The Constitution assigns to presidentiale@brs” the vote to choose the President
and Vice-President. U.S. Const. art. 1l, 8 1. t&adetermine how those Electors are selected.
South Carolina, like 47 other stateglahe District of Columbia, has decided to select Electors on
a winner take-all (“WTA”) basis, whereby the paldi party of the leading candidate among South
Carolina’s voters selects every Elector, with the vote of every other South Carolina citizen
rendered meaningless by receiving no Electoeatly or through a political party. In 2016, for
example, President Donald Trump received 54.94%e vote in South Carolina, yet he received
every single electoral vote from South Carolina. Likewise, Secretary Hillary Clinton eelceiv
40.67% of the vote in South Carolina, but receéimene of the electoral votes from South Carolina.

3. This magnification of certain votes andncellation of all others is required by
South Carolina law. Under South Carolina’s Willethod of selecting Electors, the party of the
presidential candidate who wins more votes insta¢e than any other caddie is awarded all of
South Carolina’s nine Elector§eeS.C. Code 8§ 7-19-7@ee alsdNational Archives and Records
Administration,Frequently Asked Questigrigtps://www.archives.gov/federal-register/electoral-
college/faq.html#wtapv (last visideFeb. 15, 2018) (“The District @olumbia and 48 states have
a winner-takes-all rule for the Electoral College. In these States, whichever candidate receives a
majority of the popular vote, or a plurality oktipopular vote (less than 50 percent but more than

any other candidate), takes alltbé state’s Electoral votes.”).
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4, The WTA method gives one candidate’s pall of the Electors, regardless of
whether the winning candidate has garnerely 38.09% of the popular vote in South Carolina,
as Richard Nixon did in 1968, or as much as 9%5&s John Davis did in 1924, or as few as 4,922
more votes than the next vote-getter, as k8itavenson did in 1952, or as many as 300,016 more
votes, as Donald Trump did in 2016. Either wtye vote of each and every citizen voter is
cancelled when the final direct election for President takes place unless it is cast for the winning
candidate. Thisincludes as many as 855,373 Soutili@acitizens who voted for Hillary Clinton
in 2016.

5. In South Carolina, it is Democrats and African-American voters who are effectively
disenfranchised by the WTA system of selectingciors. In each of the last ten presidential
elections the candidate who won South Carolinaranéived all of South Carolina’s Electors has
been a Republican and has not been the preferred candidate for African-American voters. In those
ten presidential elections, 5,937,650 votes weré frasthe Democratic candidate in South
Carolina, but none of the 82 South Carolina Electeese awarded to the Democratic candidate.

6. This problem is not unique to South Qara; it is also not unique to Democrats,
as the same phenomenon occurs in reverse in heavily Democratic states where votes for the
Republican candidate for President are systemically discarded before the final direct election for
President.

7. Thus, under the WTA system, many Southoiaians have been and will continue
to be denied their constitutional rightda equal vote in the presidential election.

8. The WTA system also perpetuates racial discrimination in voting and the dilution
of minority voting power in violation of the \fimg Rights Act of 1965, as amended in 1982 (the

“Voting Rights Act”).



9. The WTA system also weakens the influence of South Carolina in presidential
campaigns generally. In particular, WTA legaesidential campaigns to focus on “battleground”
states that in 2016 together represented 86Pp of voters and did not include South Carolina.
George Pilsbury & Juliadbohannesen, Nonprofit VOTEmerica Goes to the Polls 2016: A Report
on Voter Turnout in the 2016 Electionat 12 (Mar. 16, 2017),available at
http://www.nonprofitvote.org/documents/20@3/america-goes-to-the-polls-2016.pdf/.

Accordingly, presidential campaigns largely do not focus on the citizens of South Carolina. In
fact, just four battleground states—Florida, North Carolina, Ohio and Pennsylvania—saw 71% of
campaign advertising spendingda57% of candidate appearances; the top 14 battleground states
saw 99% of advertising spendingda95% of candidate appearancks. at 7, 12. WTA therefore
causes candidates for President and Vice Prdsidegive disproportiorta attention to an
unrepresentative subset of tbeuntry, ultimately giving that unrepresentative subset outsized
political influence. Under such circumstances, the presidential election does not reflect or include
the voices of the entire nation, incladiindividuals in South Carolina.

10. Finally, the WTA system distorts presidential campaigns and facilitates outside
interference in our elections. In close elections, WTA makes it much easier and much more likely
for a very small number of voters in a few potable battleground states to determine the final
electoral result than would be the case wiystem of proportional selgon of Electors. This
increased vulnerability gives the Court added reason to ensure that the current system satisfies the

requirements of the Constitution.

1 The 14 battleground states in the 2016 presideatection were assumed to be Arizona,
Colorado, Florida, Georgia, lowa, Maine, Migan, Nevada, New Hampshire, North Carolina,
Ohio, Pennsylvania, Virginia, and Wisconsin.
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11.  This lawsuit is a challenge to the WTA method selected by South Carolina. As
established by longstanding Supreme Court precedent, that exercise of state discretion remains
subject to Constitutional norms, including the First and Fourteenth Amendments, as well as
Section 2 of the Voting Rights Act.

12. To be clear, this lawsuit is not a challenge to the Electoral College, which is
mandated by the Constitution. Instead, itis a challenge to the decision of South Carolina to award
and select Electors on a WTA basis. The Constitution does not address how states should select
Electors, and it certainly does not require WTA. To the contrary, as shown below, WTA is inimical
to the long-established principle of “one persome vote,” and thereby violates the fundamental
constitutional right to vote, as well as other constitutional and statutory rights.

13. Plaintiffs seek (1) a declaratorydgment that the WTA provisions of South
Carolina’s election codeseeS.C. Code 8§ 7-19-70, violate the First and Fourteenth Amendments
to the United States Constitution and Section 2 of the Voting Rights Act; and (2) an order
permanently enjoining the use of the WTA metltodother non-representational methods, such
as selection by Congressional District voteyelecting Electors ipresidential elections.

14.  WTA violates the Fourteenth Amendnt because it counts votes for a losing
presidential candidate in South Carolina only to discard them in determining Electors who cast
votes directly for the presidency. Put differently, the WTA system unconstitutionally magnifies
the votes of a bare plurality of voters by tratisi@those votes into an entire slate of presidential
Electors, all of whom support the nominee of a single political party—while, at the same time, the
votes cast for all other candidates are given no eff@ctordingly, in the last five presidential
elections, at least 40% of Sou@farolina voters cast a vote for thandidate that did not win the

popular vote in South Carolina, and those votkeseby effectively had their votes cancelled.



Their votes were completely irrelevant to hdwe tElectors representing South Carolina voted in
the Electoral College. WTA thus treats South Carolina citizens who vote for a losing candidate in
an arbitrary and disparate manner in clearatioh of the principle of “one person, one vote.”

15. In addition, WTA violates the First Amendment because of the burdens that it
places on the right of association and on the right to have a voice in presidential elections through
casting a vote. There is no state interest i@btely outweighs these burdens. Again, at least
40% of voters in the last five presidentiat@ions—nationwide and iSouth Carolina—have
voted for a losing candidate, and none of their vhtage counted in the final direct election. This
trend will likely continue.

16. The WTA system of selecting Electors alsalates Section 2 of the Voting Rights
Act. South Carolina has a long and well-documented history of discrimination against African
Americans in voting, voter registration, and otf@ms of participationn the political process.

That history has included the manipulation of Eiectoral College in an attempt to defeat civil-
rights legislation and the use of at-large votingjrilits to dilute or eliminate the voting power of
African Americans. It has also manifested itself in significant racial disparities in education,
employment, health, housing, incon@nsportation, and incarceration.

17. The WTA system of selecting Electors is in line with that history and works in the
same way as an at-large voting district. Despite the fact that South Carolina has nine Electors and
African Americans represent over a quarter @& woting age population of the state, the WTA
system allows white voters to usually—if not always—defeat all Electors slated for African-
American preferred candidates. Indeed, Afridanerican voters in South Carolina have not had

a single Elector slated for their prefadreandidate in the last four decades.



18. Under alternative, more democratic systems of selecting Electors, African
Americans in South Carolina are sufficiently numerous, geographically compact, and politically
cohesive to have an Elector fitreir preferred candidate @achpresidential election.

19. Continuation of the WTA system will ensure that the vast majority of African-
American votes for the President of the United States will remain meaningless in South Carolina.
This, in turn, will continue to dampen incentives for African Americans in South Carolina to
participate in the presidential political process and will diminish presidential candidates’ incentives
to campaign for the votes of African-American citizens of South Carolina.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

20.  This Court has subject matter jurigotin based upon 28 U.S.C. 8§ 1343(a)(3) & (4)
and 28 U.S.C. § 1331 for causes of action arising from 52 U.S.C. §8§ Hd3@t, Subject matter
jurisdiction for Plaintiffs’ claims under the First@fourteenth Amendments to the United States
Constitution exists under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 and 28 U.S.C. § 1331.

21.  Venue is proper in thiSourt under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b).

PARTIES

22. Because of South Carolina’'s WTA ied of selecting Electors, each of the
individual Plaintiffs listed below (“Individual Plaintiffs”) has suffered, and will again suffer, an
injury that comes from lacking any meaningfepresentation in the final vote count for the
President (and Vice President) of the United Stateparticular, because the Individual Plaintiffs
have voted for, and will vote for, the democratic candidate for President in South Carolina, they
have been, and will be again, deprived of the right to hbgg votes counted equally and

meaningfully toward the election of the President.



23. Plaintiff Eugene R. Baten lives in Sumter, South Carolina, where he is registered
to vote. Mr. Baten is an African American aisdan elected Demodia Councilman in Sumter
who has voted for the Democratic presidential candidate in every presidential election in South
Carolina since 1970. He plans to remain a permamsident of Sumter, South Carolina, where
he will continue to vote in future presidential elections for the Democratic candidate.

24. Plaintiff Chester Willis lives in Goose Creek, South Carolina, where he is registered
to vote. Mr. Willis has voted for the Democratic presidential candidate in every presidential
election since 1976. He plans to remain a peenanesident of Goose Creek, South Carolina,
where he will continue to vote in future presidential elections for the Democratic candidate.

25. Plaintiff Charlette Plummer-Wooley lives in North Augusta, South Carolina, where
she has been registered to vote since 1992. iSidrican American and has voted for the
Democratic presidential candidate in every presidential election since 2004. She plans to remain
a permanent resident of North Augusta, South Carolina, where she will continue to vote in future
presidential elections for the Democratic candidate.

26. Plaintiff Bakari Sellers lives in Dem@rSouth Carolina, where he has registered
to vote. He is African American and has voted for the Democratic presidential candidate in South
Carolina presidential elections since 2008. He pl@nremain a permanent resident in the 6th
Congressional District of South Carolina where he will continue to vote in future presidential
elections for the Democratic candidate.

27. Plaintiff Cory C. Alpert lives in Colunid, South Carolina, where he is registered
to vote. Mr. Alpert has voted in every national, state, and local election since he was 18, including

in 2016 when he cast a ballot in the presideet&dtion for the Democratic candidate. Mr. Alpert



plans to remain a permanent resident of South Carolina, where he will continue to vote in future
presidential elections for the Democratic candidate.

28. Plaintiff Benjamin Horne lives in Greenville, South Carolina, where he is registered
to vote. He voted for the Democratic presidential candidate in the last three presidential elections,
including in South Carolina in 2016. He plangémain a permanent resident of South Carolina,
where he will continue to vote in future presidential elections for the Democratic candidate.

29. Defendant Henry Dargan McMaster is @@vernor of the State of South Carolina
and is sued in his official capacity for declaratory and prospective injunctive relief to prevent a
violation of federal constitutional and statutory rights. Governor McMaster is the supreme
executive authority of South Carolina, S.C. Congt. &, 8§ 1, and is required to communicate
certificates of appointment of Electors and to deliver those certificates to the Electors. S.C. Code
§ 7-19-70. Defendant McMaster must also “communicate” to the “Archivist of the United States
a certificate of such ascertainment of the electors appointed, setting forth the names of such electors
and the canvass or other ascertainimmder the laws of such Stadf the number of votes given
or cast for each person for whose appointment adya# votes have been given or cast”. 3 U.S.C.

8 6. In these circumstances, Governor McMaster has no immunity from suit.

30. Defendant Mark Hammond is the Secretar$tatte of South Carolina and is sued
in his official capacity for declaratory and prospective injunctive relief to prevent a violation of
federal constitutional and statutory rights. Mr. Haomd is responsible for certifying Electors to
the Governor of South Carolina for elections of the President and Vice President of the United
States. S.C. Code § 7-19-70. In these circamsts, Mr. Hammond has no immunity from suit.

31.  The South Carolina Election Commission “shall, ex officio, constitute the Board of

State Canvassers.” S.C. Code 8 7-17-210. Thetieh Commission, as the Board of Canvassers,



must state the number of votes given fdeteors for Presideraind Vice-Presidentjd. at § 7-17-
240, and must then “determine and declare what persons have beetedidgl” as Electorsid.
at § 7-17-250.

32. Defendant Billy Way Jr. is a Commission Member of the South Carolina Election
Commission, and serves as its Chair, and is sududs official capacityfor declaratory and
prospective injunctive relief to prevent a violation of federal constitutional and statutory rights. In
these circumstances, Mr. Way has no immunity from suit.

33. Defendant Mark Benson is a Commission Member of the South Carolina Election
Commission, and is sued in his official capadity declaratory and prospective injunctive relief
to prevent a violation of federal constitutional and statutory rights. In these circumstances, Mr.
Benson has no immunity from suit.

34. Defendant Marilyn Bowers is a fmission Member of the South Carolina
Election Commission and is sued in her official capacity for declaratory and prospective injunctive
relief to prevent a violation of federal constitutional and statutory rights. In these circumstances,
Ms. Bowers has no immunity from suit.

35. Defendant E. Allen Dawson is a r@mission Member of the South Carolina
Election Commission and is sued in his official capacity for declaratory and prospective injunctive
relief to prevent a violation of federal constitutional and statutory rights. In these circumstances,
Mr. Dawson has no immunity from suit.

36. Defendant Nicole Spain White is ar@mission Member of the South Carolina

Election Commission and is sued in her officigt@eity for declaratory ahprospective injunctive
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relief to prevent a violation of federal constitutional and statutory rights. In these circumstances,
Ms. White has no immunity from suit.

WTA IS NOT MANDATED BY THE CONSTITUTION

37. Under Article II, Section 1 of the U.Eonstitution, states are given authority to
determine the manner of selecting Electors. Pphatision of the Constition states: “Each State
shall appoint, in such Manner as the Legiskttirereof may direct, a Number of Electors” to
choose a President and Vice President.

38.  “When the state legislature vests the right to vote for President in its people, the
right to vote as the legislature has prescriiseldindamental; and one wee of its fundamental
nature lies in the equal weight accorded to each vote and the equal dignity owed to each voter.”
Bush v. Gorg531 U.S. 98, 104 (2000).

39.  The Constitution grants “extensive power to the States to pass laws regulating the
selection of electors. But the Constitution is filled with provisions that grant Congress or the States
specific power to legislate in certain areas; these granted powers are always subject to the
limitation that they may not be exercised in a way that violates other specific provisions of the
Constitution.” Williams v. Rhodes393 U.S. 23, 29 (1968).

40.  South Carolina has chosen the WTA systdrselecting Electors for presidential
races. Neither Article II, Section 1 of theSJConstitution, nor any other constitutional provision,
compels South Carolina to make that choice.

SOUTH CAROLINA'S METHOD OF
SELECTING ELECTORS IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL

41. South Carolina’s WTA method of selecting Electors violates the Fourteenth
Amendment’s command that no State may “deny to any person within its jurisdiction the equal

protection of the laws.” U.S. Const. amend. XB/1. It also violates the First Amendment by
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unduly burdening the rights of the citizens of Sdbi#nolina to associate and to effectively express
their political preferences through votin§eeU.S. Const. amend. |, § 1.

42. Under Atrticle 11, Section 1 of the UnitéStates Constitution, each state is required
to appoint the same number okElors as it has Senators and Rspntatives. U.S. Const. art. I,

8§ 1. These Electors are tasked with electing the President and Vice President of the United States.
Id.

43.  While Article IlI, Section 1 grants the states “extensive power” to “pass laws
regulating the selection of electors,” it cannot‘th®ught that the power to select electors could
be exercised in such a way as to violate express constitutional commands that specifically bar
States from passing certain kinds of lawRHodes393 U.S. at 29. The Supreme Court has made
clear “that no State can pass a law regulating elections that violates the Fourteenth Amendment’s
command that No State shall deny to angspe the equal protection of the lawdd. (internal
guotation marks and ellipsesdted). “No right is more precious in a free country than that of
having a voice in the election of those who maleeléiws under which, as good citizens, we must
live. Other rights, even the most basic, are illusory if the right to vote is undermined. Our
Constitution leaves no room foragsification of people in a wdkiat unnecessarily abridges this
right.” Wesberry v. Sander876 U.S. 1, 17-18 (1964).

44, In South Carolina, as in the rest of ttountry, citizens do not vote directly for
President. Instead, they vote for Electors, who then cast their votes in a direct election for
President. South Carolina has chosen to addMTA system for determining Electors. Under
this system, all of South Carolina’s nine Electors are members of the political party that nominated
the candidate that wins the popular vote in the state. The consequence of this system is to give no

effect to the votes of citizens who voted fdosing candidate in South Carolina in the tabulation
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of the final vote for President. South Carolm&VTA system violates the “one person, one vote”
principle, long enshrined in Fourteenth AmerSupreme Court jurisprudence, because votes

for a losing presidential candidate are counted in South Carolina only to be discarded when another
candidate wins more votes in South Carolina.otlmer words, if an individual does not vote for

the winning candidate in South Carolina, that personte translates into no representation in the
state’s multi-member Eleatal College delegation.

A. The WTA Method of Determining Electors Violates the*One Person, One
Vote” Principle and the Fourteenth Amendment.

45. In 2016, 40.67% of voters in South Carolina voted for the Democratic candidate
for President. Despite this significant blo¢ support, every single Democratic vote was
systemically discarded under tAéTA method of selecting Electors.

46. Such systemic discarding of votescars in election after election in South
Carolina. In the last five presidential elections, the Democratic candidate for President received
at least 40% of the vote—40.67% in 2016 (855,373 votes), 44.09% in 2012 (865,941 votes),
44.90% in 2008 (862,449 votes), 40.91% in 2004 (661,699 votes), and 40.9% in 2000 (566,039
votes). In each of these elections, the entirety of South Carolina’s Electors went to the Republican
candidate, cancelling the votes of Democratic voters. Combined, South Carolina has discarded
nearly 4 million presidential votes since thear 2000. During the same period, Republican
candidates received nearly 5 million popular votestlimge votes were unduly magnified in each
election and translated into the election of 42 total Electors, and 42 total electoral votes cast for
Republican presidential nominees. Duringe ttame period, South Carolina selected zero
Democratic Electors.

47. A similar pattern holds over the last ten presidential elections. In the presidential

elections from 1980-1996, the Demaitic candidate received beten 36% and 48% of the vote

13



in South Carolina, but the statelected zero Democratic Electors. In the aggregate, from 1980 to
1996, over two million votes in South Céna were systencally discarded.

48.  The inequitable nature of the curreystem of determining Electors has been
recognized by both major parties. As Saul Anuzis, the former Chairman of the Michigan
Republican Party, stated, “This is, to me, a nonparissue. It's a question of what is the right
way to elect a president. In every other officehe land, we elect the person who gets the most
votes, from dog catcher to gawer.” Eliza Newlin CarneyGOP Nonprofit Backs Electoral
College Roll Call (Dec. 7, 2011, 12:57 PM), http://www.rollcall.com/news/GOP-Nonprofit-
Backs-Electoral-College-210872-1.html.

49. Democrats also share this view. For example, Representative James Clyburn, when
writing on the WTA system of selecting Electors, stated, “My position has always been that
winner-take-all elections trample on the varietyoices in our diverse country. Winner-take-all
elections by their very nature mean that the ésglvote getter wins, even if the margin of victory
is only one vote.” James ClyburiRepresentative James Clyburn: Mend The American
Prospect (Dec. 19, 2001), http://prospect.org/article/flunking-electoral-college. Similarly, retired
Senate Minority Leader Harry Reid called the Electoral College “very undemocratic.” Chris
Sanchez,UNDEMOCRATIC’: Harry Reid gog in on the Electoral CollegdBusiness Insider
(Dec. 13, 2016, 10:54 PM), http://www.businesglascom/electoral-alege-undemocratic-
harry-reid-trump-hillary-clinton-2016-12.

50. The “one person, one vote” principleeams that South Carolina may not “value
one person’s vote over that of anotheBlish 531 U.S. at 104-05. The Supreme Court laid the
groundwork for the “one person, one vote” principle over fifty years adgaker v. Carr 369

U.S. 186 (1962), in which it recognized a right toe/tiree of arbitrary impairment by state action”

14



whether “such impairment resulted from dilution bfakse tally, or by a refusal to count votes
from arbitrarily selected precincts, loy a stuffing of the ballot box.1d. at 208 (internal citations
omitted).

51.  “One person, one vote” was first articulated the following ye@ray v. Sanders
372 U.S. 368 (1963), which involved a challenge to Georgia’s system for allocating votes in the
primary for statewide office. The Court invalidated Georgia’s system because the candidate
winning the popular vote in the county under thggtem would receive “the entire unit vote of
that county,” with “other votes for afterent candidate being worth nothing ameing counted
only for the purpose of being discardedGray, 372 U.S. at 381 n.12 (emphasis added). In so
holding, the Court stressed: “The conception of political equality from the Declaration of
Independence, to Lincoln’'s Ggsburg Address, to the Fifteitin Seventeenth, and Nineteenth
Amendments can mean only one thing—one person, one dteat 381.

52.  “Over the ensuing decades, the Court has several times elaborated on the scope of
the one-person, one-vote ruleEvenwel v. Abbqttl36 S. Ct. 1120, 1124 (2016). The Supreme
Court applied “one person, one vote” to invalidatecheme for the apportionment of seats in the
Alabama legislaturesee Reynolds v. Sin377 U.S. 533, 563 (1964) (applying “one person, one
vote” to strike down method for counting votes and highlighting that “Weighting the votes of
citizens differently, by any method or means,rehe because of where they happen to reside,
hardly seems justifiable”), and to a systemqiohg Electors for a new party on the bakeie Moore
v. Ogilvieg 394 U.S. 814, 819 (1969) (concluding “Theadhat one group can be granted greater
voting strength than another is hostile to the one man, one vote basis of our representative

government”).
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53.  Only one case involving the constitutionalif a WTA system in the context of
presidential elections has reached the Suprem@&tGnd, in that case, the Court summarily
affirmed the lower court’decision without an opinionWVilliams v. Va. State Bd. of Electiqr88
F. Supp. 622 (E.D. Va. 196&ummarily aff'd without opinior893 U.S. 320 (1969). Milliams
the plaintiffs brought an Equal Protection Clause challenge to Virginia’s WTA system for selecting
Electors before a three-judge panel. The panel acknowledged “discrimination against the minority
voters” because “once the electoral slate is chosen, it speaks only for the element with the largest
number of votes.”ld. at 627. It nonetheless dismissed the complaint, ruling that “in a democratic
society the majority must rule, unless the discriminationvglious? Id. (emphasis added). The
panel found that “No such evil has been magmifest” and dismissed the complaid.

54.  To the extent that there was onceirandiousness requirement to a Fourteenth
Amendment claim involving violaiin of the “one person, one vote'ipeiple, the Court’s decision
in Bush v. Goreg531 U.S. 98 (2000) removed it. There, the Supreme Court invalidated Florida’'s
process for recounting votes in the 2000 presidealection for violating the “one person, one
vote” principle. Notably, there was no sugy@s that any unequal treatment of votes under
Florida’s process was invidiousSee Bush531 U.Sat 105;see also idat 104 (“When the state
legislature vests the right to vote for Presideritsipeople, the right to vote as the legislature has
prescribed is fundamental; and one source of its fundamentaknas in the equal weight
accorded to each vote and the equal dignity owed to each voigrad);107 (holding that “the
idea that one group can be granted greater votieggth than another is hostile to the one man,
one vote basis of our represative government.”) (quotingloore, 394 U.S. at 819 (alteration

omitted)).
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B. The WTA Method of Determining Electors Violates the Rght to Associate
Protected by the First and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States
Constitution.

55.  Theright to associate is protected under the First and Fourteenth Amendments. “It
is beyond debate that freedom to engage in astsmrifor the advancemeaot beliefs and ideas is
an inseparable aspect of the ‘liberty’ assured by the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth
Amendment, which embraces freedom of speeBIAACP v. Alabama ex rel. Patters@b7 U.S.

449, 460 (1958).

56. The Supreme Court has long held that “political belief and association constitute
the core of those activities protected by the First Amendmé&ittdd v. Burns427 U.S. 347, 356
(1976). The “right of individuals to associate tbe advancement of patal beliefs” and “the
right of qualified voters, regardless of their politipaksuasion, to cast their votes effectively” are
“overlapping” rights that “rank amanour most precious freedomsRhodes393 U.S. at 30.

57.  South Carolina’s WTA selection of Electorspdives Plaintiffs of their First and
Fourteenth Amendment associational rights based solely on Plaintiffs’ political association and
expression of political views at the ballot box.

58.  South Carolina’s WTA selection of Electdiscards Plaintiffs’ votes for President,
limiting Plaintiffs’ ability to express their political preference. When Plaintiffs express their
political preference through a vote for the Democratic or third-party candidate, South Carolina’s
WTA selection of Electors ensures that Plainti¥isices are not heard afdaintiffs’ votes do not
count toward the selection of @gitors. Plaintiffs each become &mequal participant in the
decisions of the body politic.¥Whitford v. Gill 218 F. Supp. 3d 837, 883 (W.D. Wis. 2016).

59. In 1986, the Supreme Court held that a state law restricting access to primary voting
to those who were registered members efgarty was unconstitutional because it limited “the

Party’s associational oppartities at the crucial juncture at igh the appeal to common principles
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may be translated into concerted action, lagnce to political power in the communityrashjian

v. Republican Party of Conm79 U.S. 208, 216 (1986). The associational rights of Plaintiffs and
other Democrats and third-party voters in South Carolina are similarly restricted due to South
Carolina’s WTA selection of Electors. Plaintiffs’ votes are discarded “at the crucial juncture at
which the appeal to common principles mayttamslated into concerted action, and hence to
political power in the community.d.

60. The WTA system also limits Plaintiffs’ associational rights because it dilutes the
power of the Democratic and tt#party voters in South Caroin As a result, candidates from
major political parties rarely hold campaign events in South Carolina once they are selected by
their parties in the primary. This resultsanreduced opportunity for all South Carolinians to
interface with and petition the candidates for major political parties in person, and “to express their
ideas, hopes, and concerns to their governraent their elected representatives” as is also
protected by the Petition Clause of the First AmendmBotough of Duryea, Pa. v. Guarnieri
564 U.S. 379, 388 (2011).

61. The impact of South Carolina’s WTA system is felt nationally as well as locally.
Indeed, “in the context of a Presidential electistate-imposed restiiens implicate a uniquely
important nationkainterest.” Anderson v. Celebrezz60 U.S. 780, 794-95 (1983) (footnote call
omitted). “Moreover, the impact of the votes castach State is affected bye votes cast for the
various candidates in other Stdtesd burdens on associational rights may place “a significant
state-imposed restriction on atioawide electoral process.id. at 795.

62. South Carolina has “a less important interest in regulating Presidential elections

than statewide or local electiofsgcause the outcome of the formeit be largely determined by
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voters beyond the State’s boundariekl? And any regulation of such elections may not
contravene constitutional rightsSee idat 788 (citingStorer v. Brown415 U.S. 724, 730 (1974)).

63. “When deciding whether a state election law violates First and Fourteenth
Amendment associational rights,” courts musgigh the ‘character and magnitude’ of the burden
the State’s rule imposes on those rights against the interests the State contends justify that burden,
and consider the extent to which the &gtconcerns make the burden necessamurimons v.
Twin Cities Area New Part$20 U.S. 351, 358 (1997) (quotiBgrdick v. Takushb04 U.S. 428,
434 (1992)).

64.  South Carolina’s WTA selection of Elecd poses a severe burden on Plaintiffs’
associational rights that is not outweighed by any legitimate state interest.

C. The WTA System Makes United States Elections More Vulnerable to
Outside Influences.

65.  As government reports have concluded, “Russian intelligence accessed elements of
multiple state or local electoral boards. c&irearly 2014, Russian intelligence has researched US
electoral processes and relatedhteology and equipment.” U.®ffice of the Dir. of Nat'l
Intelligence, Background to “Assessing Russian Activities and Intentions in Recent US Elections”:
The  Analytic Process and Cyber Incident  Attribution, at 3 (2017),
https://www.dni.gov/files/documents/ICA_2017_01.pdfRussia’s effort to influence the 2016
US presidential election represented a significant escalation in directness, level of activity, and
scope of effort compared to previogyserations aimed at US electionsd. at 5. Efforts from the
outside to influence the outcome of United Stalestions strike at the core of our democracy.

66. The current WTA system makes our el@ctsystem more vulnerable to outside
attacks, as prevailing under that system usually depends on gaining a majority in a handful of

battleground states. As one comnagoit explained: “It is true #t our decentralized, precinct-by-
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precinct system would make a coordinated national vote hack a massive undertaking. But given
that our elections usually come down to a few predictable states, swaying even a national election
is not as hard a task as it once seemed. Sowing chaos at the district or precinct level appears to be
within hackers’ current capabilities.” Suzanne Mello-Stlik,now clear US voting is hackable.
Here are 6 things we must do to prevent chawsx (June 16, 2017, 10:50 AM),
https://www.vox.com/the-big-idea/2017/6/16816510/voting-security-hacks-russia-georgia-
election.

67. Under a more equitable aodnstitutional method of selieg Electors, the risk of
an outside influence changing the outcome of a presidential election is greatly reduced. The votes
of citizens in each state become meaningfultaedbutcomes of elections do not boil down to the
winner of a few easily predictable states.

SOUTH CAROLINA'S METHOD OF SELECTING ELECTORS VIOLATES
THE VOTING RIGHTS ACT, SECTION 2

A. South Carolina Has a History of Voting Racial Discrimination.

68. South Carolina has a long and well-documented history of racial discrimination
against African Americans in voting, registrationggarticipation in the aeocratic process. That
history has repeatedly been recognized by federal co8#ds, e.g., United States v. Charleston
Cty, 316 F. Supp. 2d 268, 282 (D.S.C. 2003) (“It sipkhat African Amegans have suffered a
pronounced and protracted history of past discrimination,” discussing evidence of discrimination
against African Americans in South Carolinaemployment, educatiomolitical participation,
and voting),affd sub nom. United States v. Charleston C8C., 365 F.3d 341, 353 (4th Cir.
2004);United States v. Charleston Gt$18 F. Supp. 2d 302, 322 (D.S.C. 2002) (noting that the
“Defendants concede that Charleston County ardStiate of South Carolina have histories of

official discrimination”); Colleton Cty. Council v. McConngRO1 F. Supp. 2d 618, 634 (D.S.C.
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2002) (noting that South Carolina has “the worst reputation for historical and ongoing
discrimination against blacks"NAACP, Inc. v. City of Columbia, S,850 F. Supp. 404, 421—
422 (D.S.C. 1993) (noting that there was an “abundance of uncontroverted testimony about South
Carolina’s past history of discrimination affecting voting” and that discrimination in South
Carolina has “been widely documented in nuousrreported decisions in this districff'd as
modified 33 F.3d 52 (4th Cir. 19943ee also Rice v. EImqr&65 F.2d 387, 392 (4th Cir. 1947)
(upholding a district court order forcing theuh Carolina Democratic Party to allow African
Americans to vote in its primariesert. denied333 U.S. 875 (1948).

69. Until 2013, South Carolina was a “coveljadsdiction” under Section 5 of the
Voting Rights Act, and thus met the formula et under Section 4(b) dfie Act for determining
which states need more oversigt&helby Cty., Ala. v. Holded33 S. Ct. 2612, 2620 (2013).
Congress required “preclearance” for coveredslictions because they maintained literacy tests
or other obstacles to voting and had low votegigiation or turnout in the 1960s and early 1970s.
Id. at 2628. Those factors, the Sepre Court explained, “are rgknt to voting discrimination
because of their long history as a tool for eérgting the evil; a low voting rate is pertinent for
the obvious reason that widespread disenfranchisemest inevitably affect the number of actual
voters.” South Carolina v. KatzenbacB83 U.S. 301, 330 (1966).

70. As several courts have recoguizeSouth Carolina’s history of voting
discrimination extends from before the Civil War to recent electi®as. Jackson v. Edgefield
Cty., S.CSch. Dist. 650 F. Supp. 1176, 1180 (D.S.C. 1986) (discussing South Carolina’s history
of discrimination against African American in voting and in registering to vote since before the
Civil War); Charleston Cty.316 F. Supp. 2d at 286 n.23 (noting that “the United States did put

forward voluminous testimony concerning whathtaracterized as a consistent and more recent
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pattern of white persons acting to intimidate and harass African-American voters at the polls
during the 1980s and 1990s and even as late as the 2000 general election” and that “the Court
agrees that there is significant evidence of intimidation and harassment”).

71.  South Carolina also has a history ahgsghe WTA method of selecting Electors
to undermine civil-rights advancements.

72.  As one example, in February 1948, President Harry Truman announced a broad
civil-rights agenda, later includan the Democratic Party pfatm, proposing several initiatives
to combat discrimination again&frican Americans. Nadine Cohod&trom Thurmond and the
Politics of Southern Changat 126—93 (1993). South CarolisaGovernor, Strom Thurmond,
objected that Truman’s proposai®uld undermine “the protectioof the racial integrity and
purity of the white and negro races alike,” armved to use the “electoral college set up in the
Constitution of the United States” to block Truman’s effofts.at 133. Thurmond planned to do
so by being nominated for President in a separate convention of southern states and then taking
advantage of South Carolina’s aather southern states’ WTA sgm of selecting Electors in
order to force the election for President into the House of Representatives. The WTA system
would allow him to gain a far larger share of the total Electoral College than his share of the
popular vote of the country, and southern lawmaketie House could then soften civil-rights
policies or elect a southern candidalte.

73.  To eliminate any doubt as to his intens, Thurmond declared in his acceptance
speech at the southern conventicat tthere’s not enough troops in the army to force the southern
people to break down segregation and admit thgrdNieace into our theaters, into our swimming
pools, into our homes, and into our churchefd” at 177. As part of Thurmond’s effort, the

Democratic Party in four southern states, inalgdsouth Carolina, nomired slates of Electoral
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College delegates pledged to Thurmond, theeddiandoning their party’s official nominee, Harry
Truman. Id. at 181. Thurmond went on to win all four sty large margins, receiving all of
their Electors. Although Truman was still ablewim a sufficient amount oElectors to win the
presidency, Thurmond’s 39 Electors were alnasbugh to throw the election to the House of
Representatives. Had Truman lost, for example, Texas and Georgia—both solidly Republican
states today—he would have failed to receive a sufficient number of Electoral College votes.
Overall, Thurmond won only 2.4% of the popularejobut was able to take over 7% of the
Electoral College votes because of the WTA system.

74. South Carolina’s history of discrimination also includes the documented use of at-
large voting to dilute or eliminate the strength of African-American votes within a geographic area.

75. In 2003, a United States District Court found that Charleston County’s at-large
system of electing its nine County Council mersh“denies African Americans, on account of
their race and color, equal access to the Elecaoicpolitical process, in contravention of Section
2 of the Voting Rights Act.”Charleston Cty.316 F. Supp. 2d at 307. The court found that the
white voting-bloc of Charleston County was almalstays able to defeat the African-American
preferred candidate, despite the fact thatAfreean-American population was sufficiently large
and politically cohesive to make up “a majority in at least one of nine single-member districts in
an illustrative plan for Charleston County Councild. at 276—77. The effect of the at-large
process was that in over thirty years of electioméy three out of forty-one council members were
African American.ld. at 274.

76.  South Carolina’s WTA system works in @me way as the at-large voting district
discussed irCharleston Cty. 365 F.3d at 341. Both systems dilute the power of the African-

American voting bloc by expanding the electorate to include more white voters. Both systems
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deny “African Americans, on account of their rao®l color, equal access to the electoral and
political process, in contravention of Section 2 of the Voting Rights Adt.”

77. Under South Carolina’s WTA system,chavote for a presidential and vice-
presidential candidate is counted as a vote fotEhextors of the party by which those candidates
were nominated or the Electors of petition candidates whose names have been filed with the
Secretary of State.” S.C. Code § 7-19-70. N&hectors nominated by the party whose candidate
wins at least a plurality of theagewide vote are permitted to catdctoral votes ahe appointed
date and time. No electors from any other party are permitted to cast any electoral vote.

78. President Barack Obama, for examplen just under 45% of South Carolina’s
vote for the President in 2008, but received zerSamith Carolina’s nine Electoral College votes.

79.  As aresult of the WTA system of seleg Electors, African Americans in South
Carolina have not had a single Elector for theafemed candidate for the last 40 years, despite
the fact that they make up over a quarter oiihteng age population in the state. By contrast, the
votes of the white majority have been magnif because Republican candidates have received
100% of the state’s electoral estin that same time period.

80. Less discriminatory means of selecting Electors are readily available.

81. As an example, South Carolina coultesetheir Electors proportionally, giving
each party a proportional number of the state’s nine Electors based on the percentage of votes their
candidate received in the statewide election.

82. Under a proportional system, Africalmericans are sufficiently numerous,

compact, and cohesive to win at least one Electothieir preferred candidate for each election.
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B. South Carolina’s WTA System Meets Each of the Requirements to Establish
a Violation of Section 2 ofthe Voting Rights Act.

83.  South Carolina’s use of the WTA system meets each of the elements necessary to
establish a violation of Section 2 of the Voting Rights Act: (1) the African-American population
in South Carolina “is sufficiently large and geographically compact to constitute a majority in a
single-member district”’(2) the African-American populaimn in South Carolina “is politically
cohesive”; and (3) “the white majority votes sufficiently as a bloc to enable it—in the absence of
special circumstances, suak the minority candidate rumg unopposed—usually to defeat the
minority's preferred candidate."Thornburg v. Gingles478 U.S. 30, 50-51 (1986) (internal
citation omitted).

Gingles Factor #1: South Carolin&as a sufficiently large and compact
minority population.

84. South Carolina has a sufficientlyrdge and compact population of African
Americans to win at least origlector in a proportional system e€lecting Electors or in other
systems that do not result in the dilution of minority votes.

85.  According to the 2016 United States Census estimates, 27.5% of the population in
South Carolina is African American.

86.  American Community Survey (“ACS8stimates for 2015 show that the voting age
population in South Carolina 27.1% African American.

87.  According to the South Carolina Election Commission, as of October 28, 2016,
27.6% of the registered votersSiouth Carolina arAfrican American.

88.  ACS estimates for 2016 show that 57.2% of South CarolifaBodigressional

District is African American.
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89. Census estimates for 2013 state that African Americans make up a majority of the
population of South Carolina’®\llendale, Bamburg, Fairfield, Hampton, Lee, Marlboro,
Orangeburg, and Williamsburg counties.

90.  South Carolina’s Election Commission répdinat as of October 28, 2016, African
Americans make up a majority of registeredeve in South Carolina’s Allendale, Bamburg,
Fairfield, Hampton, Lee, Marion, Marlboro, &rgeburg, Sumternd Williamsburg counties.

Gingles Factor #2: South Carolina African-American population is a
politically cohesive minority voting bloc.

91. Voting in South Carolina is highly radiapolarized and African Americans in the
state are politically cohesivé-or example, exit polls taken during the 2008 and 2016 presidential
elections showed that African-American voters in South Carolina voted for the Democratic
candidate at rates of 96% and 94%, respectively. Nationwide exit polling for 2012 showed that
93% of African-American voters supported Barack Obama.

92. Numerous courts have recognized thaingoin South Carolina is highly racially
polarized and that the white and African-Amenigaopulations vote as sap#e, cohesive blocs.
See, e.g., Charleston Ctyg65 F.3d at 347 (noting that “the County concedes not only that its
minority voters are sufficiently numerous and geographically compact to constitute a majority in
a single-member district, but also that they are politically cohesi@agrleston Cty.318 F. Supp.
2d at 322 (“Voting in South Carolina continues torheially polarized to a very high degree, in
all regions of the state and in both primargaions and general elections. Statewide, black
citizens generally are a highly politically cohesigroup and whites engage in significant white-
bloc voting.”™) (quotingColleton County CounciR01 F.Supp.2d at 640-419mith v. Beasley

946 F. Supp. 1174, 1202 (D.S.C. 1996) @outh Carolina, voting has been, and still is, polarized
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by race. This voting pattern is general throughout the state and is present in all of the challenged
House and Senate distsah this litigation.”).

Gingles Factor #3: South Carolina’s wite population votes sufficiently as a
bloc to enable it usually to defeétte minority’s preferred candidate.

93.  As aresult of the size of the white paiidn and its political cohesiveness, white
voters in South Carolina usually vote sufficiently as a bloc to enable them to defeat the African-
American preferred candidate,clading their minority preferred candidate for President.
According to Census estimates for 2016, the voting age population in South Carolina is 69.7%
white.

94. Exit polls for the 2008 and 2016 presidential election showed that white voters in
South Carolina supported the Republican candidatrates of 73% and 70%, respectively. In
those years, the Republican candidateireed 100% of the state’s Electors.

95. As a specific example, Barack Obama received over 90% of African-American
votes in South Carolina in 2008 and 2012 but wasuwstdble to win a single Ettor for the state.

96. As stated above, despite the fact Afatan Americans make up over a quarter of
the voting age population in South Carolina, theyehaot had a single Elector for their preferred
candidate since 1976 when President Jimmy Carber every southern state except for Virginia
and Oklahoma.

97.  Aside from Senator Tim Scott—who was originally appointed as a United States
Senator by a Republican Governor—South Carolina has redgered an African-American
representative to a state-wide office.

98.  Courts have recognized that white veter South Carolina vote sufficiently as a
bloc to enable them to defeat the African-American preferred candiBle¢ee.g Charleston Cty.

316 F. Supp. 2d at 277 (reaffirming that “candidadé choice of African—American voters in
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Charleston County Council contests are usuallieated as a result of white bloc voting”);
Colleton Cty. Councjl201 F. Supp. 2d at 642 (“Minority voters are generally politically cohesive

to a very high degree and, as a rule, the majority usually votes sufficiently as a bloc to defeat the
minority’s preferred candidate.”gmith 946 F. Supp. at 1203.

Additional factors support a violation of Section 2 of the Voting Rights Act here

99.  The “totality of the circumstances” supmod finding of racial discrimination in
voting for the Presidency in violation of Section 2 of the Voting Rights Act. 52 U.S.C. § 10301(b).

100. Numerous factors support the condusihat African-American voters in South
Carolina have less opportunity than their white cerparts to participat& the political process
and to elect representatives of their choice.

101. South Carolina has a lorjgdicially-recognized histgr of racial discrimination
against African Americans in voting, registration, and participation in the democratic process.

102. That history of racial discrimination hasluded the use of at-lge voting districts,
as well as instances where African Americavexe barred from partijgating in choosing a
candidate for general election.

103. South Carolina’s WTA system of selegtilectors works in the same way as an
at-large district. As a result, it enhances thpportunity for discrimination against African-
American voters.

104. Aside from one Senator who was origypalppointed by a Republican Governor,
South Carolina has never elected an African-American representative to a state-wide office, nor

has it ever selected an Elector slated to an African-American candidate.
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105. The results of the South Carolina’s higtof discrimination can be seen in the
significant racial disparities in education, @oyment, health, housing, income, transportation,
and incarceration in South Carolina.

106. Numerous courts have recognized @@odnomic disparitiesetween the African
American and white populations in South Caroligee e.g.Charleston Cty.318 F. Supp. 2d at
323 (noting that it was undisputed that “socioeconomic disparities divide avid black residents
of Charleston County”)Smith 946 F. Supp. at 1203 (“In the challenged House and Senate
districts, there is a socio-economic gap between the average white citizen and the average black
citizen. There is a larger percentage of blabks whites below the poverty level; the household
income of blacks is generally less than that of whites; unemployment is greater among blacks; and
the level of formal education among blacks is.IéBsere are more whites than blacks residing in
married-couple households, and more blacks liva@ngle-female households. More blacks than
whites are without private means of transpartg and more whites than blacks own their own
homes. Infant mortality is greater among blacksJgckson 650 F. Supp. at 1188-89
(“Defendants do not substantially dispute that there are socio-economic disparities which have
existed in the white and black community. Inddaetplicitly emphasized in the defendants’ view
that the inequality gaps on income, education, employment kend living conditions are
narrowing at a faster rate in Edgefield Countytheesy are compared to those of the State and of
the National is their recognition that these emstances of dispropaotiality still prevail.”).

107. Elected officials in SoutBarolina have historicallyp®wn a lack of responsiveness
to the needs of the African-American communityhe state. The racial disparities in education,
employment, health, housing, income, transpanmatand incarceration serve as evidence of that

lack of responsiveness.
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108. Modern political campaigns in ShutCarolina and nationwide, including
campaigns for the President of the United States, are still at times characterized by overt and subtle
racial appeals. As one of maayamples, push polls and flyers in South Carolina during the 2000
presidential primary campaign imptiy and explicitly accused John Main of fathering a “negro
child” out of wedlock. George W. Bush went onvion the primary election in South Carolina by
eleven points.

109. The policy reasons underlying the uséhefWTA system of selecting Electors in
South Carolina are tenuous.

110. Overall, the WTA system of seleny Electors perpetuates a history of
discrimination against African-American voters in South Carolina and makes it all the more
difficult to address the results diat discrimination. It dilut African-American votes for the
President of the United States; it dampens incentives for African Americans in South Carolina to
participate in the electoral process; it diminishes presidential candidates’ incentives to campaign
for the votes of African-American citizens of South Carolina; and it impermissibly magnifies and
multiplies the votes of the white majority. It is therefore a violation of Section 2 of the Voting
Rights Act.

CAUSES OF ACTION

Count | — Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution
111. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporatepior paragraphs of this Complaint.
112. South Carolina’s WTA system for selectielgctors results in the votes of citizens
who voted for a losing candidate in the state lb@ihg counted in the final direct election for
President. Accordingly, South Carolina’s WTA medl of determining Electors violates the “one

person, one vote” principle and the Fourttemendment to the United States Constitution.
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113. Unless enjoined by order of this Cowgfendants will continue to violate the
Fourteenth Amendment to the United Sta@emstitution by implementing the WTA method of
selecting Electors.

Count Il — First and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution

114. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporatepior paragraphs of this Complaint.

115. South Carolina’s WTA system poses a severe burden on Plaintiffs’ rights to
associate and to effectively express their political preference through voting that is not outweighed
by any legitimate state interest. Accordingbouth Carolina’s WTA method of determining
Electors violates the First and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution.

116. Unless enjoined by order of this Court, Defendants will continue to violate the First
and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution by implementing the WTA method
of selecting Electors.

Count Il — Section 2 of the Voting Rights Act (52 U.S.C. § 10301)

117. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporatepior paragraphs of this Complaint.

118. The WTA system of selecting ElectorsSnuth Carolina results in the denial or
abridgment of the right of African-Americaitizens in South Carolina to vote on account of race
or color in violation of Section 2 @dhe Voting Rights Act. 52 U.S.C. § 10301.

119. Under the totality of the circumstancdse WTA system of selecting Electors
results in less opportunity for African-Amean citizens in South Carolina than their white
counterparts “to participate indtpolitical process and to eleepresentatives of their choicéd.

at § 10301(b).
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120. The WTA system of selecting Electors hadirect causal connection to the denial
or abridgment of the right dAfrican-American citizens in &ith Carolina to vote on account of
race or color.

121. Unless enjoined by order of this Court, Defendants will contmumlate Section
2 by implementing the WTA method of selecting Electors.

ATTORNEYS' FEES

122. In accordance with 52 U.S.C. § 20510 and 42 U.S.C. § 1988, Plaintiffs are entitled

to recover reasonable attorrefees, expenses, and costs.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

123. WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs respéally request that this Court:

a. declare that South Canwdi's current method of selecting Electors under S.C. Code
Section 7-19-70, and any othetated section, is unlawful because it (1) treats South
Carolina citizens who vote for a losing candidate in an arbitrary and disparate manner
in violation of the Fourteenth Amendment of the United States Constitution; (2)
burdens these citizens’ rights to associate and to express their political preference
effectively through voting in violation of the First and Fourteenth Amendments to the
United States Constitution; and (3) dilutes the voting strength of African-American
voters in South Carolina in violation 8kction 2 of the Voting Rights Act;

b. declare that Plaintiffs’ rights will be irreparably harmed without injunctive or
declaratory relief from this Court;

c. enjoin Defendants from selecting Electargler the challenged WTA system, or any
other system that fails toetat each South Carolina citizenaste for the President in an

equal manner, including setemn by Congressional District vote;
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set reasonable deadlines for state authorities to propose and then implement a method
of selecting Electors that treats each South Carolina citizen’s vote for the President in
an equal manner, making clear that such a systanmot include selection by
Congressional District vote;

if state authorities fail to propose or inmplent a valid method of selecting Electors by
the Court’s deadlines, order a proportiomedthod of distributing Electors, selecting a
proportional number of Electors to eachrtpabased on the number of votes each
party’s candidate receives statewide;

adjudge all costs against Defendants, including reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs;
retain jurisdiction to render any and all further orders that this Court may deem
necessary in order to ensure compliance; and

grant any and all further relief to which Plaintiffs may show themselves to be entitled.

(signature page follows)
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February 21, 2018
Columbia, South Carolina.
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